Public Document Pack

Cheshire E;s;&

Council%

Cabinet Members for Environmental
Services and Prosperity
Agenda

Date:
Time:

Venue:

Monday, 30th April, 2012
10.00 am

Committee Suite 1 & 2, Westfields, Middlewich Road,
Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press.

Part 2

items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons

indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

PART

1.

2.

1 — MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT
Apologies for Absence
Declarations of Interest

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or
prejudicial interests in any item on the agenda.

Public Speaking Time/Open Session

In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is allocated for
members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relevant to the work of the
meeting. Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the Chairman or
person presiding will decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be
apportioned where there are a number of speakers. Members of the public are not required to
give notice to use this facility. However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice
is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at least three
clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with that notice. This will
enable an informed answer to be given.

For any apologies or requests for further information, or to give notice of a question to be
asked by a member of the public

Contact: Paul.Mountford
Tel: 01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk



Proposed Dog Control Orders for The Carrs, Wilmslow (Pages 1-12)

To consider the making of dog control orders in relation to specified areas of land at The
Carrs in Wilmslow.

Rural Housing Enabling Guide (Pages 13 - 16)

To consider a report which outlines the purpose of the draft Rural Housing Enabling Guide
and which seeks permission to consult further.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

The reports relating to the remaining item on the agenda has been withheld from public
circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 on
the grounds that the matter may be determined with the press and public excluded.

The Portfolio Holders may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting
during consideration of the following item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act
1972 and public interest would not be served in publishing the information.

PART 2 - MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS
PRESENT

Letting of Knutsford Civic Centre and Cinema (Pages 17 - 26)

To secure a tenant for Knutsford Cinema and Civic Centre.



Page 1 Agenda ltem 4

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Cabinet Member for Environmental Services

Date of Meeting: 30" April 2012

Report of: Head of Community Services

Subject/Title: Proposed Dog Control Orders for The Carrs, Wilmslow
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Rod Menlove

1.0 Report Summary

1.1 This report provides details in relation to the statutory powers to make ‘dog
control orders’ and requests that the Cabinet Member considers making
certain dog control orders in relation to specified areas of land at The Carrs
in Wilmslow.

2.0 Recommendations
2.1 The Cabinet Member for Environmental Services is requested:
2.1.1 subject to statutory consultation, to approve the making of

(a) a ‘Fouling of Land by Dogs Order’ in relation to the area of land known
as The Carrs, Wilmslow, shown edged in red on the plan attached as
Appendix A;

(b) a ‘Dogs (Specified Maximum) Order’ in relation to the area of land
known as the Carrs, Wilmslow, shown edged in red on the plan attached
as Appendix A;

(c) a ‘Dogs on Leads Order’ in relation to the area of land at The Carrs,
Wilmslow shown hatched in black and on the plan attached as Appendix
B; and

(d) a ‘Dogs on Leads by Direction Order’ in relation to the area of land at
The Carrs, Wilmslow shown hatched in black on the plan attached as
Appendix C.

2.1.2 to authorise the Borough Solicitor, or officer acting on her behalf, to publish
notice of the proposed orders within paragraph 2.1.1 (a) — (d) above, with
any objections to be made within the statutory consultation period of twenty-
eight days. In the event that objections are received in relation to any of the
proposed orders, for these objections to be referred back to the Cabinet
Member for consideration at a future meeting.



Page 2

2.1.3 in the event that no objections to any of the orders proposed within

3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

paragraph 2.1.1 (a) — (d) above are received, or if any such objections are
withdrawn, to authorise the Borough Solicitor, or officer acting on her
behalf, to make and bring into force the orders and to give notice thereof in
accordance with statutory requirements.

subject to the statutory consultation in relation to the proposed orders, to
determine that the level of fixed penalty notice in relation to offences under
the proposed dog control orders will be £75.

Reasons for Recommendations

The proposals have been submitted in response to complaints received by
the Council relating to issues arising from the presence of dogs on the
Carrs in Wilmslow.

Wards Affected

Wilmslow West and Chorley

Local Ward Members

Councillor Gary Barton and Councillor Wesley Fitzgerald
Policy Implications including - Carbon Reduction, Health

The Council’s Corporate Plan (2011- 2013) specifies the corporate objective
of enhancing the Cheshire East environment, which includes the aim of
“providing clean and well-maintained streets, public spaces” and protecting
“our heritage, natural and recreational environment for the benefit of local
communities.”

Financial Implications (Authorised by the Director of Finance and
Business Services)

There will be costs associated with the publication of statutory notices in a
local newspaper. These costs, which are estimated to be in the region of
£1,000, will be met from existing budget provision within the Community
Wardens’ budget.

If dog control orders are made, in accordance with regulations 3(4)(a) of the
Dog Control Orders (Procedures) Regulations, where practicable signs must
be placed summarising the order on land to which a new order applies.
There would be cost implications (of approximately £500) relating to the
acquisition of such signage to be placed on site.

As set out within the legal implications below, the Council has the discretion
to set a level of fixed penalty notice between £50 and £80. The default
position, if the Council doesn’t specify an amount is £75. The
recommendation to the Cabinet Member is that the fixed penalty notice level



8.0

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

Page 3

is set at £75; this is in line with the level set by the Council for fixed penalty
notices which fall within the same bracket.

Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor)

Part 6 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 (‘the 2005
Act’) provides local authorities with the discretionary power to make orders
known as ‘dog control orders’ in relation to the following: (a) fouling of land
by dogs and the removal of dog faeces; (b) the keeping of dogs on leads;
(c) the exclusion of dogs from land; and (d) the number of dogs which a
person may take onto any land.

Section 57 of the 2005 Act prescribes the land to which dog control order
may apply, being any land which is open to the air (including covered land
which is open to the air on at least one side) and to which the public are
entitled or permitted to have access (with or without payment). Secondary
legislation (the Control of Dogs (Non-application to Designated Land) Order
2009) that the powers to make dog control orders do not apply (i) to land
that is placed at the disposal of the Forestry Commissioners under section
39(1) of the Forestry Act 1967; and (ii) in so far as they relate to the
exclusion of dogs from land, land which is or forms part of a road.

The form of words which must be used in relation to dog control orders is
prescribed within the Dog Control Orders (Prescribed Offences and
Penalties, etc.) Regulations 2006 (‘the 2006 Regulations), including orders
relating to the offences of: (i) the fouling of land by dogs; (ii) not keeping a
dog on a lead; (iii) not putting and keeping a dog on a lead under direction;
(iv) permitting a dog to enter land from which it is excluded; and (v) taking
more than a specified number of dogs onto land. The 2006 Regulations
also prescribe that the penalty in relation to these offences is, on summary
conviction, a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale (i.e. £1,000).

The procedure for making a dog control order is set out within the Dog
Control Orders (Procedure) Regulations 2006 (‘the Procedure Regulations’)
and includes the publication of notice of the proposals in a local newspaper
with a minimum twenty-eight day period within which representations in
relation to the proposals may be made. The Council is also required to
consult the relevant ‘secondary authority,” in this case Wilmslow Town
Council.

If, following consideration of any consultation responses received, a local
authority determines to make a dog control order, it is required by virtue of
the Procedure Regulations, not less than seven days before the order
comes into force to: (a) where practicable, place signs summarising the
order in conspicuous positions on or near the land in respect of which it
applies; (b) publish a notice relating to the making of the order in a local
newspaper and on the Council’'s website; and (c) send information about
the making of the order to the relevant secondary authority (i.e. the Town
Council). The 2006 Regulations additionally provide that a dog control order



8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

9.0

9.1

10.0

10.1

Page 4

may not come into force before the period of fourteen days from the date on
which the order was made.

Section 59 of the 2005 Act makes provision for the issue, by an authorised
officer, of a fixed penalty notice as an alternative to prosecution for an
offence within a dog control order. The statutory default level of fixed
penalty notice is £75, however the local authority may determine the level,
subject to the limitations within the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalty
Notices) (Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2007 (‘the 2007
Regulations’). The 2007 Regulations state that the amount of a fixed
penalty notice must not be less than £50 and not more than £80 and any
lesser amount for payment within a prescribed period must not be less than
£50. It is suggested that the level of fine set should be proportionate and
reasonable given the nature of the offence in question.

At the present time the land in question is covered by a designation made
under the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996 (‘the 1996 Act). Whilst the 1996
Act was repealed by the 2005 Act, offences under the 1996 Act were
preserved and the Borough of Macclesfield Dogs Fouling of Land Order
1998 continues to have effect. However, if any type of dog control order is
made that applies to land already designated under the 1996 Act, the 1996
Act ceases to have effect in respect of the land subject to the dog control
order.

The former Macclesfield Borough Council made a byelaw in 1982 which
prohibited a person in charge of dog from allowing the dog to foul a footway
or grass verge. Under subsection 64(4) of the 2005 Act, if an authority
makes a dog control order in respect of an offence on a specified area of
land, any byelaw dealing the same offence on that same area of land
lapses.

Paragraph 13.2.3 of the Officer Management Arrangements within the
Council’'s Constitution provides that CMT Members may authorise officers
to enforce the requirements of legislation including by way of fixed penalty
notice.

Risk Management

Consideration must be given to any consultation responses received in
order to avoid risks associated with legal challenge to any orders made.

Background and Options

The Carrs, situated off Chancel Lane in Wilmslow, is an area of some 71
acres of land which is owned by the Council and operated as a country park.
The River Bollin flows through the site, which also benefits from three public
rights of way (footpath numbers: Wilmslow 5, Wilmslow 23 and Wilmslow
29).



10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Page 5

In autumn 2010 the Council received a number of complaints about dog
owners being irresponsible in the Carrs. This included at least one incident
being reported to the Police, and others reported to the Councils
Enforcement Officers. This culminated with several agencies holding a Dog
Awareness Day on the Carrs in late autumn 2010. Subsequently, further
information was received suggesting that non dog owning visitors to the
Carrs remained concerned and in some cases frightened about: the
numbers of dogs running loose on the Carrs; a lack of owners clearing up
after their dogs had defecated; the presence of commercial dog walking
companies; and a general lack of responsible dog ownership.

The Carrs is one of a number of sites on a list for passing attention by the
Enforcement Officers. It has over the months, received more attention than
other sites. In response to observations, the Carrs was targeted for a short
period in July 2011, which resulted in seven Fixed Penalty Notices being
issued for failing to clean up after a dog fouling incident.

Part 6 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 makes
provision for local authorities to make ‘dog control orders’ in respect of land
which is open to the air and to which the public have access with or without
payment (with limited exceptions as set out within the legal implications
above). The 2005 Act and the relevant secondary legislation make provision
for five possible types of ‘dog control order,” these include:

(a) Fouling of Land by Dogs Orders;

(b) Dogs (Specified Maximum) Orders;

(c) Dogs on Leads Orders;

(d) Dogs on Leads by Direction Orders; and

(e) Dogs Exclusion Orders

The penalty for committing an offence contained in a dog control order is
level 3 on the standard scale (currently £1,000). Alternatively a fixed penalty
notice may be offered by an authorised officer as an alternative to
prosecution.

The form which a dog control order must take is prescribed within secondary
legislation. There are defences in all dog control orders of: (a) having a
reasonable excuse for failing to comply with an order; or (b) acting with the
consent of the owner or occupier of the land, or of any other person or
authority which has control of the land. Fouling of Land by Dogs Orders and
Dogs Exclusion Orders include exemptions for people who are registered as
blind and in relation to people who make the use of trained assistance dogs.

The Defra Guidance on Dog Control Orders confirms that authorities may
make dog control orders provided that they are satisfied that an order is
justified and has followed the necessary procedures. Paragraph 29 of the
Guidance states, “It is also important for any authority considering a Dog
Control Order to be able to show that this is a necessary and proportionate
response to problems caused by the activities of dogs and those in charge
of them.” Paragraph 30 continues, “The authority needs to balance the



10.7

Page 6

interests of those in charge of dogs against the interests of those affected by
the activities of dogs, bearing in mind the need for people, in particular
children, to have access to dog-free areas and areas where dogs are kept
under strict control, and the need for those in charge of dogs to have access
to areas where they can exercise their dogs without undue restrictions. A
failure to give due consideration to these factors could make any
subsequent Dog Control Order vulnerable to challenge in the Courts.”

Taking into consideration the nature of the site and the problems in relation
to dogs which have been reported to the Council, the following dog control
orders are proposed:

10.6.1 Fouling of Land by Dogs Order

As set out in the legal implications above, at the present time the Carrs is
covered by a designation made under the Dogs (Fouling of Land) Act 1996
(‘the 1996 Act) which provides the Council with the ability to issue Fixed
Penalty Notices in relation to dog fouling offences. The legislative
provisions prescribe that if any type of dog control order is made that
applies to land already designated under the 1996 Act, the 1996 Act ceases
to have effect in respect of the land subject to the dog control order.
Therefore, if any form of dog control order were to be made in relation to the
land the Council’s existing powers would cease to have effect. For this
reason it is proposed that a Fouling of Land by Dogs Order be made in
relation to the land shown edged red on the plan attached as Appendix A
(i.e. the whole of the Carrs site). It is suggested that the experience of the
Community Wardens has demonstrated that dog fouling is an issue on this
site and that an order of this nature is therefore both necessary and
proportionate.

10.6.2 Dogs (Specified Maximum) Order

It is suggested that an order be made which specifies that the maximum
number of dogs which a person may bring onto the land is four. This order
has been proposed in the light of the concerns raised to the Council about
the use of the site to walk multiple dogs by commercial dog walkers.

Paragraph 45 of the Defra Guidance states:

When setting the maximum number of dogs, the most important factor for
authorities to consider is the maximum number of dogs which a person can
control; expert advice is that this should not exceed six. Authorities should
also take into account the views of dog owning and non-dog owning
residents within the area to which the order will apply to establish what they
consider to be an appropriate maximum number taking into account all the
circumstances in the area. A key factor here will be whether children
frequently use the area.

The content of the guidance, and its reference to six dogs, is noted.
However, it is suggested that a maximum of four dogs is appropriate for this
site as children do frequently use the area.



Page 7

10.6.3 Dogs on Leads Order

It is proposed that a dogs on leads order (which would make it an offence,
without reasonable excuse, to fail to keep a dog on a lead) be made in
relation to the area of land shown hatched in black on the plan at Appendix
B. This area is a piece of land (of approximately 26,146 square metres)
located adjacent to Chancel Lane and north of the River Bollin and includes
both playing fields and a children’s’ play area. The natural boundary of the
area which is formed by the River Bollin will assist in clearly distinguishing
the area to which the order applies. Due to the specific uses which this area
of land is put, it is suggested that it is proportionate and necessary to
impose an order of this nature. It is not proposed that the order would
specify a particular lead length, but rather that dogs must be kept on leads
at all times in this area.

10.6.4 Dogs on Leads by Direction Order

10.7

10.8

Due to the problems which have been reported in relation to the control of
dogs on the site, it is proposed that a ‘dogs on lead by direction’ order be
made in relation to the area shown hatched in black on the plan at Appendix
C (i.e. to the whole of the site with the exception of the area of land shown
hatched in black on the plan at Appendix B, being the area of land to be
covered by a dogs on leads order). Such an order would make it an offence
for a person, without reasonable excuse, to fail to put a dog on a lead when
given a direction to do so by an authorised officer of the Council. As per the
previous order, it is not proposed that this order would specify a particular
lead length

The procedure for making dog control orders is prescribed by secondary
legislation (the details of which are set out in the legal implications above)
and includes publication of a notice of the proposals in a local newspaper
and consultation with the Town Council. If representations are received
within the consultation period, and not withdrawn, these will be reported to a
future meeting of the Cabinet Member for consideration.

As set out above, the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties)
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2007 provide that the amount of a
fixed penalty notice relating to a dog control order may be not less than £50
and not more than £80. This bracket also applies to the offences of (i)
leaving litter (under section 88(6A)(a) of the Environmental Protection Act
1990); and (ii) graffiti and fly-posting (under section 43(A)(1)(a) of the Anti-
Social Behaviour Act 2003). The Council has set the level of fixed penalty
notice at £75 in relation to littering, graffiti and fly-posting. It is recommended
to the Cabinet Member that the level of fixed penalty notice in relation to dog
control orders also be set at £75. Section 60(3) allows the Council to make
provision for treating a fixed penalty notice as having been paid if a lesser
amount is paid before the end of a specific ‘discount period.” However, it is
suggested that, in line with the approach taken to fixed penalties for littering,
graffiti and fly-posting, that a lesser amount will not be applicable.



Page 8

10.9 The alternatives to the decision requested within paragraph 2.0 above would
be:

10.9.1 not to approve any of the proposed dog control orders for statutory
consultation;

10.9.2 to approve only one or some of the proposed dog control orders for
statutory consultation; or

10.9.3 to approve the dog control orders for statutory consultation but on the basis
of their application to amended geographical areas.

Whilst each of the above options is open to the Cabinet Member, the
proposals put forward have been based on the issues which are specifically
affecting the site.

11.0 Access to Information

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the
report writer:

The Borough of Macclesfield Dogs Fouling of Land Order 1998
Macclesfield Borough Council Byelaw — Dogs Fouling Footways and Grass Verges

The Defra Guidance on Dog Control Orders may be accessed on the Defra
website: www.defra.gov.uk

Name: Kate Khan

Designation: Lawyer, Regulatory Team
Tel No: (01270) 685847

Email: kate.khan@cheshireeast.gov.uk



000'9:l

NDIA A

c
<<

APP
=

- s5ypasoaid)no 10 tooazad @ pea Aew preyyfiidos 1morD 236w wonorpardal pagIoTEIN 161do0 TmOID @ UL ONITMES 201 23BN J3H 01 H0LI0D 3N IO JEYD]

‘OL0Z SPOSHIDOL NIV NCD1FE] A2 1D

“220 1M0 30 10 BLEDAEWAANILS F0VEIDI0 301341 O 1AM AR WM RAME 101116114000 A s WIEIN 0310 A oS buddew A Gumansonad
-1q100 1 o1 Qd A1 L0 IAPI0 N JQIONN Y A LAQ DInId 1 PADNOY BLED dEWASM RS ROTEIDIO AL

10 /30 S IR OL0 1005 wad 211 mmiE 38w NS 0eip 0 1od paseq g dew f1L

 m—— sealy 1aplo jonuon Bog pasodold - sued syl

. 112Uno)
T(ds5P3 daysayd

4 \\...,..\\%\

g

Page 9

{ ! & ! .___m_r.\ ° | ~
¢ ..-f.__“__r..m.v L\“_.Lhwv.w &
/.blull

~—

~d o
#f}m..f\m ____\ & o
= \.i.»«. £ rin .

-

aaafirs

asmog ey 4y - -
ameeulp] 4 == .__
U oamg U

&
z Remhig palouisay = ==

% ABMB|PIT m—
(2 Y12 1100 e

puaban

=~ T AR

»E,st

T/ U DDIE)

!.ﬁ__“w‘v
ys 153
. IeH IBUMO, i3
.w/ f




APPENDIA B

Page 10

‘0L0Z G¥06¥000L TI9UNGY 15ET enyseuyd
‘sBupeedcid |0 Jo uefincesaxd o] pea Aew pue yBiukdos umolD sebujyul uonanpardal pasuoyineun JyBuAdos unmesd @ aayo Asuopmg s Atsefe JoH Jo JefonuoD L JO Jeyeq uo ABAINS BoUBURIQ JO UoISSIuLed oY) UM [euejew Aeaing souBUPIO Uodn peseq 5 dew syl

1 -
000 m 4 ‘asn umo Jiey) 1o) elep dews Aoaing @oueuUpIO 2IUADN O} Yysw Aoyl asaum adwnpe Joj JyBuAdeo feang eoueupi 1oeju0o pinoys Guiddews sy Buimora suosied .\ \__UC n QU
< “uonauny algnd s11 41N} 01 JBRIO U] Afuowny Sy AQ pepiacid S1 pepniou) eiep dew AeAnS esurBupIO) oyl . \\ :

TJspg ad1ysay)
v 027 18pI0 SpesT uo sBog - SueD syl &

g
SRR

P ebpug |2 E%w
molswip £ 3 i/5i=
ool =2 md

N\ & I /

*-

/7

[
5
z

s
e “, _
/A

\‘}'
5/;

D
/
7
N

/
/)

7
7
4

%
5,
AN

39
/.
{25
&
S
S

A/

RemAg poomisay — —

W
'

Aemajpug

Uiediood ,_. S N/
NP

pusbaT _é%m.,.@_..ﬂ.; ....ufloso,,,,s\ A
4 i%r‘!ﬂﬂ%!&%., e %\\/«

punoJBAe|d




APPENDIX C

Page 11

‘0L0Z SFOE¥0001L 119UNo) 1583 edlyseyd
"sBupeectud |12 Jo uognasserd o peaf Aew pue Biudod wnoi0 SaBul LoRonpaidal pasuouineun WBNAdeD WMID @ SO AeLoRmS 5 AIselely Jet SO 1elIeaUOD 9L o JEteq UG AAing BoeURIG Jo Uorssiusied oL Yum EuaEL ADAINg eourup.Q uodn peseq s dew siy|

000 oL 95N W0 1o} J0j elep deww ADAINS BOUBUPIC 92UAY)| 0) YSIM Aoyl aleum aope Jo) 1yBRAdoD Aeaing eaueuplQ 1oeuoo pinoys Buiddew siuy3 Bumola suosiad - [DUNo .
‘uonaun} anqnd sy [y o1 Jepio ul Auouyiny siyy Aq papiacid ) pepniau) ejep dew AeAing esuBUPIO oY) ; \\\v\ U
< Tdsp3 darysay>
N /22277  1epao uonoaug Aq spea uo sboq - sueq ay) NS
e =] N /. 7
S N © T’ =T
= A n.w_\usw 3 >
= ~JFEPN P otpus” |
£ S | Sl R i N
= L) N
o~ ~ S 4R Ziiih m ¥ / ke
) > / -
oy Sy AN S- SN
S 7 ¢ D n.m \ X eBpug pig
¥ \ -\ \
U ~—
Mo\ NSPIe BuiAeld -

——— e,

yos n.\
(JIeH fiimog /

\=4

N

QS : &
20 %N.:\.y....ﬂ TS S
e T o
NESN

b s \.
7 (X RSB
1vog ..mw, . A
\% stﬂ..ﬂ.o 4%
AemAg papousey — — SITES ..ﬂh.q
LK
REMO|PLIT —m— &R@v#&i&
"ootﬁ.w.&. Q@Q.
Yiedioo4 2 2
B AN
e
pUah9T yog wig ALY
usaln) AsoE

.._.\v/wu%.ﬂvw ...<A\0
qﬁo.ﬂ\_l\. ~b§s %V




Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 13 Agenda Item 5

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Cabinet Member for Prosperity

Date of Meeting: 30™ April 2012

Report of: Strategic Housing and Development Manager
Subject/Title: Rural Housing Enabling Guide

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jamie Macrae

1.0 Report Summary

1.1 Cheshire East has a shortage of affordable housing. This need is
particularly acute in smaller rural settlements. The draft Rural Housing
Enabling Guide has been produced to support rural affordable housing in
Cheshire East and help clarify the priority areas for development. The
Guide aims to help local people and developers work together to secure
the new affordable housing that their communities need and identifies
those areas where we are able to support development. This report
outlines the purpose of the draft Rural Housing Enabling Guide and asks
for permission to consult further.

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 To grant permission to carry out formal consultation on the draft Rural
Housing Enabling Guide.

3.0 Reasons for Recommendation

3.1 To allow for wider stakeholders and Parish Councillors to comment on and
contribute to the draft Guide

4.0 Wards Affected
4.1 All rural wards
5.0 Local Ward Members
5.1 All rural ward Members
6.0 Policy Implications (including carbon reduction and health)
6.1  Carbon Reduction
Providing homes in rural areas can help reduce carbon emissions as people will

not have to travel to seek childcare and/or healthcare if this can be provided by
family members who live close by.



6.2

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

8.2

9.0

9.1

9.2

10.0

10.1

Page 14

Health

Housing is fundamental to the wellbeing and prosperity of the Borough. There are
direct connections between access to affordable, sustainable housing and health,
educational attainment, carbon reduction and care for vulnerable and older people

Financial Implications (authorised by Director of Finance and Business
Services)

There are no financial implications. The costs of producing the Guide have been
met from existing budgets.

Legal Implications (authorised by Borough Solicitor)

There are no legal obligations on local authorities to produce Rural Housing
Enabling Guides.

Legal Services will review the Rural Housing Enabling Guide and comment
prior to it being finalised. It may be necessary or prudent to include
disclaimers and protections for the Council for example to mitigate against
claims such as misrepresentation or legitimate expectation and the Council
should make the usual statement that is not fettering it's discretion as a
planning authority.

Risk Management Implications

The draft Rural Housing Enabling Guide has been designed to help developers
and communities to better understand the impacts of affordable housing in rural
settlements of Cheshire East. It does this by providing information which can be
used to assess the sustainability of areas that have been identified in the 2010
Cheshire East Strategic Housing Market Assessment as primarily rural. The Guide
has been developed for use by a varied audience to support collaborative working.
There is no stipulation that the Guide must be adhered to but the draft has been
developed with support from internal and external agencies to ensure that content
is practical and helpful for them.

This document will not have unanimous support as provision of new housing and
particularly affordable housing in rural areas can be contentious. However the aim
of producing this Guide is to enable wider understanding of the priorities and aims
of the Council in provision of affordable housing in rural areas. Widespread
consultation on the Guide including the need for affordable housing in rural areas
should help minimise the risk of opposition

Background and Options

Cheshire East Council has enabled the provision of many new affordable homes
across the Borough but the current economic down turn has impacted on delivery
at a time when affordable homes are needed more than ever. Affordable homes
are essential to the continued vitality of our towns and villages. Increasing the
provision of affordable homes for local people is one of the Council’s corporate



10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

Page 15

priorities and in response we are promoting a range of initiatives to maintain a
supply of affordable homes for local people.

In 2011 Cheshire East Strategic Housing Services began a process of engagement
with a number of internal and external agencies to produce a good practice Guide
which would meet the priority of improving the strategic approach the Council takes
to delivery of affordable housing in the most rural areas of Cheshire East

The intention to produce a Rural Housing Enabling Guide met with a very positive
response. Partners felt it would enable us to maximise our resources for the
provision of new affordable housing in rural communities and be clear about which
locations the Council prefers to support proposals for new development. The Guide
will help implement the recommendation made by the Audit Commission to
improve consistency in our strategic approach to ensure all aspects of housing
strategy are fully informed by partners.

Contained within the body of the Rural Housing Enabling Guide is housing need
information which identifies the priority areas for development of affordable
housing. These elements of sustainability are recorded in a needs matrix which is
appended to the Guide.

The matrix has been collated to help identify those parishes where development is

a priority. The Guide details local services which are considered to be fundamental
to the sustainability of a rural area and illustrates the availability of these in the form
of maps appended to the draft Guide.

The fundamental services are detailed as follows:-

Service accessibility which includes access to amenities. These services include
such facilities as health surgeries, village halls, faith centres and leisure areas such
as children’s play grounds.

Public transport which includes regular weekday bus services, community bus
services and railway stations.

Educational establishments includes primary schools, nurseries and colleges but
does not include private schools

Retail establishments includes general stores, post offices, public houses and
convenience stores attached to garages

Employment which highlights the ratio of people of working age resident in an
area in relation to the number of people employed in that area.

The Guide includes consideration of partnership working with communities and
neighbourhoods which is integral to the positive approach to rural development.
The Guide is designed to meet the housing needs of local communities which is
facilitated through the work of the Cheshire East Rural Housing Enabler (RHE).



10.6

10.7

11.0

Page 16

The role of the Enabler is to work with rural communities providing independent
advice and support. Therefore it is important to ensure that a consistent process is
demonstrated for enabling rural housing schemes. A flowchart to map the steps
required to engage and consult with all interested parties is included in the Guide.
This will provide guidance about the procedure to follow to progress development
to all interested parties.

The Enabler organises local housing needs surveys to evidence local housing
need through engagement with individual parishes. A large number of local
surveys have been carried out over the past five years. It is intended that further
surveys will be conducted and prioritised based on the evidence the need matrix
provides and these parishes are listed in the Guide.

Access to Information

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the
report writer:

Name: Vikki Jeffrey

Designation: Strategic Housing and Development Manager
Tel No: 01270 685642

Email: vikki.jeffrey@cheshireeast.gov.uk




Page 17 Agenda ltem 7

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Proposed Dog Control Orders for The Carrs, Wilmslow
	Dog Control Orders - Appendix (Plans)

	5 Rural Housing Enabling Guide
	7 Letting of Knutsford Civic Centre and Cinema
	Knutsford Civic Centre - Appendix (Plan) - EXEMPT - PART 3


